Appellate Court # 72397-9 Superior Ct. # 13-2-40091-0-KNT

#### COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I

#### WAYNE R. RICHARDSON

Appellant Pro Se

VS.

#### COAST REAL ESTATE SERVICES ET. AL.

Respondents.

#### PETITIONER'S FIRST BRIEF

Wayne R. Richardson P.O. Box 78618 Seattle, WA 98178-0618 (206) 772-6181 Home Ph. With ans. (206) 551-8064 cell

####

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

I, Wayne R. Richardson, Petitioner Pro Se, asks this court to accept review of the Superior Court decision denying Petitioner's "Motion to Vacate Defendant's Summary Judgment Dismissing with Prejudice Appellant's Claim as designated in Part B of this petition.

#### B. SUPERIOR COURT'S DECISION

Superior Court Judge, Bill Bowman, granted defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment dismissal with prejudice on June 25, 2014 without a hearing, argument, exhibits or proof of service of said motion on the appellant/plaintiff under LCR 56. Further, there was never an answer to the claim filed in the court or served on the plaintiff as required under CR 7(a). The ruling was issued under KCLGR 30 on instructions to licensed attorneys, the procedure on E-mail requirements for obtaining judgments against the opposing party. (See copy of original order attached to Plaintiff's Notice of Appeal).

KCLGR 30 was amended by special order of KCLGR 30 on January 1, 2014, April 1, 2014, and June 27, 2014 disposing of the E-mail requirement of KCLGR 30 requiring motions for hearings and trials must be set forth to the clerk of the court by filing paper motions and serving exact copies of those motions for hearings or trials on the opposing party. (See copy of King Co. Emergency Rule Amendment, KCLGR 30 appendix A-1-A-2).

#### (b) Electronic Filing

- (5) Electronic Filing is Mandatory.
- (A) Documents That Shall Not Be E-Filled. Exceptions to mandatory e-filing include the following documents:
  - (iii) Documents presented for filing during a court hearing or trial:
- (D) Waiver of the Requirement to E-File. If an attorney is unable to e-file documents, the attorney may request a waiver. The attorney must explain why he or she needs to file paper documents in that particular case. The Clerk will make waiver request forms available. The Clerk will consider each application and provide a written approval or denial to the attorney. Attorneys who have received a waiver shall place the words "Exempt from e-filing per waiver filed on (date)" in the caption of all paper documents they file for the duration of the waiver.
- **(E)** Non Compliance With This Rule. If an attorney files a document in paper form and does not have an approved waiver from efiling, the clerk will assess a fee against the attorney pursuant to King County Code 4.7.100 for each paper document filed."

#### (B)(a) Defendant Refused To Answer The Claim.

The defendant refused to answer the claim per the Summons issued under CR 4 that required an answer within 20 days excluding the day of service. Seven months passed before a motion for summary judgment was

entered by e-mail to the clerk of the court for a Motion for Summary

Judgment without service of process on the appellant. Further, defendant's

counsel placed a lock on the case by e-mail to hide his actions from public

view. This was not discovered until the day of the hearing on June 20,

2014. The plaintiff had not received any notice until 4:15PM on June 19,

2014 by a letter sent to the plaintiff claiming a default for the summary

judgment.

The plaintiff/appellant asks this court to vacate the defendant's dismissal with prejudice and grant the appellant his motions for default. Further, the appellant asks for CR 11 sanctions against the defendants and their counsel for gaining a judgment without obtaining jurisdiction of the subject matter of the claim by refusing to answer under CR 4, 7(a), 8, and 9.

#### II. Assignments of Error

- No. 1. The court errored by denying plaintiff's Motion to Vacate the Summary Judgment. The Motion was timely and served on opposing counsel who refused to answer the motion.
  - No. 2. The court errored by changing the Motion to Vacate the

Summary Judgment to a Motion for Reconsideration and stating that the plaintiff failed to appear at the hearing that was never held because the judge had been assigned to a temporary Ex Parte position in the Seattle Court from March 18, 2014 through June 24, 2014. The void order was signed on June 25, 2014. The original order was signed by some commissioner at Regional Justice Center on June 20, 2014 without a hearing. The judge's court room was locked all day on June 20, 2014 with the hearing to be held at 10:00AM. The plaintiff then went up to the clerk's office to bring the case up on the computer. The screen wanted a pass word to gain access to the case. The clerk entered her pass word and stated that this was a civil case not viable to be locked from public view. The court docket shows all the e-mail entries submitted by counsel for the defendant. (See Appendix A-3-A-4.)

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

No. 1 The judge errored by not stating in the order of dismissal that he was assigned to Ex Parte in the Seattle Court House from March through June of 2014 that would alleviate him from ruling on any motion submitted for any type hearing that required an argument. The plaintiff,

being pro se without an attorney, must confirm with the court clerk of the date and time for any hearing regarding a motion for any type argument. This requirement is set forth in the presiding judge's order for any case before an assigned judge. This is also a requirement of any counsel so involved with any case assigned to a special judge. What makes this counsel have any right to do what he wants without due process of law?

No. 2. Defendant's counsel has not only violated CR 11 but is in violation of RPC 3.3(b) and 3.5(f). (Assignment of Error 1 and 2).

No. 3. There is no part of any King County Local Rules that preempts any part of the original Superior Court Rules or any part of the Rules of Professional Conduct required from counsel of either party.

Example: There is CR 4 that deals with a summons and complaint with the required time for an answer to the claim. CR 7(a) states: "There shall be a claim and an answer." These two actions must be complete before any part of any local rule may be interjected into the wants of the defendant.

(Assignment of Error 1 and 2).

#### III. Statement of the Case

The plaintiff brought this case against the landlord and her

company, Coast, for extortion, refusing to control black mold, failing to fix residential discrepancies in a timely manner, age, gender and race discrimination, Consumer Protection Act, having a monopoly involved with Greentree Apartments and Park Hill apartments, and refusing to comply with the landlord tenant act. (CP 5-9) The plaintiff had been housed in Greentree Apartments since 2007 on the ground floor in building "J". (CP-4-5) He has been on a fixed income from the VA and Social Security since 1997. (CP 5) He is now 76 years old and very susceptible to lung problems due to the VA refusing to correct pneumonia for 3 months from September through November of 1994 that put scar tissue in the lower lobe of the left lung before having a pulmonary doctor assigned to him.

The landlord refused to correct any deficiencies in the apartments.

(CP 6) She further wanted to increase the rent an extra fifty dollars a month. (CP 6-7, 16). The appellant entered RCW 59.18.060(1) of the Landlord Tenant Act at (CP 9) and arrived at the damages cited on (CP 9-17). (Assignments of Error 1 and 2)

No. 4. Counsel for the defendants refused to answer claiming the

writing of the claim failed to comply with formatting and unintelligible. He wanted the claim to be rewritten and reserved before he would answer. The plaintiff served and filed his first Motion for Default under CR 4 and CR7(a) that demands there be a claim and an answer. (Assignments of Error 1 and 2).

The appellant answered the above claim in his Motion to Amend the first Motion for Default. (CP 58-87) and his Affidavit in Support of said Motion. (CP 88-119). There has been no answer to any of the above pleadings of the appellant. Further, the respondents have failed to enter any court documents to counter this appeal or appellant's Motion to Vacate the Summary Judgment. (Assignments of Error 1 and 2).

#### IV. Summary of Argument;

No. 1. Did respondents have subject matter jurisdiction
over the claim?No!
No. 2. Did respondents have personal jurisdiction over the
plaintiff?No!
No. 3. Did respondents protect their laches for filing a
Motion for Summary Judgment without answer under
CR 4, 7(a), 8, and 9?
No. 5. Was service of process on the appellant for their
Motion for Summary Judgment timely?No!
No. 6. Did respondent's counsel violate any part of the
Rules of Professional Conduct?

#### V. Argument

No. 1. Did respondents have subject matter jurisdiction over the claim?

The appellant claims No! MARLEY V. LABOR &

#### INDUSTRIES 125 Wn.2d 533, P.2d 189 (Dec. 1994) @ 539

"Section 11 of the restatement defines subject matter jurisdiction: A judgment may properly be rendered against a party only if the court has authority to adjudicate the *type of controversy* involved in the action.' (Italics ours) We italicize the phrase "type of controversy" to emphasize its importance. A court or agency does not lack subject matter jurisdiction solely because it may authority to enter a given order.

The term "subject matter jurisdiction" is often confused with a court's "authority" to rule in a particular manner. This has led to improvident and inconsistent use of the term.

Courts do not lose subject matter jurisdiction merely by interpreting the law erroneously. If the phrase is to maintain its rightfully sweeping definition, it must not be reduced to signifying that a court has acted without error.

A tribunal lacks subject matter jurisdiction when it attempts to decide a type of controversy over which it has no authority to adjudicate.

The subject matter of defendant's instant Motion for Summary never came into the jurisdiction of the court of the assigned judge. The initial signing of the order was not presented to the assigned judge. It was first assigned to the clerk of the court who signed the order and sent it to an Ex Parte commissioner in the Regional Justice Center for entering a default judgment on June 20, 2014 while the assigned judge was still on

the bench in Ex Parte at the Seattle Court House. This all happened because of the local rule requirement under LGR 30 demanding all attorney's licensed in King County must e-mail every document in a case to the clerk of the court. This action in effect, defeats the action of due process of law to gain an order against the other party. In this case, the other party is the plaintiff/appellant Pro Se without counsel. *Marley v*.

Labor & Industries op cit 8

"The focus must be on the words "type of controversy." If the type of controversy is within the subject matter jurisdiction, then all other defects or errors go to something other than subject matter jurisdiction.

#### @ 541

"As the restatement warns, classifying an error of law as "jurisdictional" issue transforms it into one that may be raised belatedly, and thus permits its assertion by a litigant who failed to raise it at an earlier state in the litigation. The classification of a matter as one of jurisdiction is thus a pathway to escape from the rigors of the rules of res judicata. By the same token it opens the way to making judgments vulnerable to delayed attack for a variety of irregularities that perhaps better ought to be sealed in a judgment.

To this end, it was the appellant/plaintiff who repeatedly presented dates on every motion entered into this instant cause of action that the defendant and her company, being personally served, on November 26, 2013 refused to answer the claim to protect the defendant's laches. This in

and of itself should have been a red flag to the Honorable Bill Bowman, assigned judge to this case by order of the presiding judge of the Regional Justice Center.

No. 2. Did the plaintiff/appellant ever raise the question of jurisdiction with his Motion to Vacate the Summary Judgment Order? Yes! (See Motion to Amend Default served and filed July 18, 2014 CP 58-87) (CP 64-65)

SULVIAN v. PURVIX 90 Wn. App. 456. 966. P.2d 912 (Feb. 1998)

#### @ 459

"Sulivan and the superior court cite *Marley v. Department of Labor and Indus*., 125 Wn.2d 533, 886 P.2d 189 (1994) for the proposition that the court could enter judgment notwithstanding an erroneous application of the law. *Marley* does affirm such authority. But the decision rests on an assumption of proper jurisdiction. And it specifically states lack of subject matter jurisdiction voids the court's orders. *Id.* at 538.

#### @460

"Jurisdiction relates to the power of the court, not to the rights of the parties as between each other. Wesley v. Schneeckloth, 55 Wn.2d 90, 93, 346 P.2d 658 (1959). Jurisdiction cannot, therefore, be conferred by agreement or stipulation of the parties. Id. at 93-94. A party may waive personal jurisdiction, but not subject matter jurisdiction. In re Puget Sound Pilots Ass'n 63 Wn.2d 142, 148, 385 P.2d 711 (1963)

The defendant and her counsel figured the appellant/plaintiff was nothing more than an elderly white (interjected to show racial prejudice) person who was defunct in the intelligence category in any position that

could harm the defendant in a court of law. The fact of the matter is, the appellant is a college graduate in Electronics and did work for Boeing for twelve and a half years with nine and a half years that included a flight line technician, black box technician, continuity checker, wire shop, five years as in experimental electronics, and six months on the Lunar Orbiter test program. He formed his own landscaping business in 1967, instigated the blending of top-soils in 1974 and had installed over one thousand lawn by 1976. He still has his business and is a licensed consultant in surface and under ground water control, wet land mitigation acts, property rights, plat development and passive solar design-build to about 85% self contained. His business was recently listed in the Federal National Blue Book of Federal Contractors after forty-seven years. He is well qualified to address this action as to what the needs are to rid the apartments of the black mold problem that was addressed by the legislature in 2005 and placed in chapter 59.18 RCW that controls landlords.

The appellant interjects his Motion to Amend the original Motion for Default served and filed with his Motion to Vacate the Summary

Judgment Order on July 18, 2014. There has never been any reply to these

documents. The Motion to Vacate the Summary Judgment required an answer under LCR 60 and CR 60. The act of the Honorable Bill Bowman changing that motion to a Motion for Reconsideration disposed of any answer required from the respondents that invokes an act of prejudice against the plaintiff. The second act of Judge Bowman for refusing to require an answer required under CR 4, 7(a), 8, 9, for a period of eight months and then stating on his Order of Denial that the appellant never attended the hearing that never existed shows more of a prejudice action against a litigant who does not have the funds to hire a liar (lawyer) to present his claim to a court of law.

No. 3. Regardless of the requirements of KCLGR 30 under KCLR 7(b) stating the defendant could defend without answer under CR 7(a) defeats any requirements associated with the court rules that govern the acts of the Superior Court that must be accounted for in every case placed in action in King County.

The old KCLR 7(a) used to state that if a Motion for default was served and entered before an answer was served and entered; that the defendant could not answer without leave of the court. The new question before this court is a simple one. Where has the right to due process of law in court of law been preempted by some unorthodox local rules to take

advantage of hop scotching past the rules that have been set forth before the early nineteen hundreds. Other counties must still comply with the Superior Court Rules set forth in Washington State to control the lawful movement through the general court system. What makes King County so special that the regular Superior Court Rules are completely ignored in the writings of the KCLGR as being un-important in the actions of due process of law?

## No. 4. Defendants failed to serve plaintiff/appellant in a timely manner required both by KCLR 56 and CR 56.

Both KCLR 56 and CR 56 make the same statement for service of process for a Motion for Summary Judgment. The two rules are in unison as to service of process for this one type motion. Both rules state the Motion must be served on the opposing party 28 days **before** the day of the hearing. The word "before" must be adhered to before the moving party has jurisdiction over the motion or the opposing party.(CP 109) If the Motion is sent by mail there must be three extra days added to the mailing. (CP 109-110). The court stated in the Order denying the Motion for Reconsideration that service at the KOA camp ground must have been

made by personal service on the plaintiff. The defendant's declaration of service only stated the motion was served by mail that failed to comply with the address change filed in the court records. (See order attached to the Notice of Appeal and CP 109-118 for other issues not required for this appeal)

## No. 5. The Judgment is void without service of process on the non moving party.

## MORRIS v. PALOUSE RIVER R.R. 149 Wn. App. 366, 203 P.3d 1069 (Mar. 2009) @ 370-371

"Default judgments are generally disfavored in Washington based on an overriding policy which prefers that parties resolve their disputes on the merits.'

" Topliff v. Chi. Ins. Co., 130 Wn. App. 301, 304, 122 P.3d 922 (2005) (quoting Showwalter 124 Wn. App. at 510). . . . CR 60(b)(5) permits relief from a final order upon showing "[t]he judgment is void." "Proper service of the summons and complaint is essential to invoke personal jurisdiction." In re Marriage of Markowski, 50 Wn. App. 633, 635-36, 749 P.2d 754 (1988). A default judgment entered without personal jurisdiction is void. Id. at 636

The court docket shows every motion presented by the plaintiff was objected to by defendant's counsel submitting an answer to the clerk of the court by e-mail in violation of LGR 30(5)(A)(iii). This included sub # 28 used as a reference in the void Motion for Summary Judgment.

However, the statements set forth on that declaration of the defendants is to be held as evidence that the defendant did enter the apartment without

the permission of the plaintiff/appellant and stole many documents affecting this case. Further, defendant Walston is being charged with theft of the titles to the plaintiff's 1987 Chevy pickup and the 16 thousand lb. five yard dump trailer that was pulled by the pickup for the plaintiff's business. The pickup was parked in the apartment space for J-181 but the titles were in the apartment next to computer. A new title for the trailer had to be ordered from Dept. of licensing during the month of October 2014. It was still clear without any leans.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

This court should accept review for the reasons listed in the Assignments of Error and Argument. The appellant served and filed a proposed order to the Honorable Bill Bowman and the Attorney General for the vacation of the void summary judgment. A copy of the order is attached as exhibit A-5-10. Item 1 of the Order of Dismissal asks that all claims of the plaintiff/appellant be reinstated and drawn to a conclusion of trial by jury to assess actual damages to the plaintiff including back pay for payments made over the last eight years of being associated with Greentree Apartments. The Attorney General did answer the plaintiff and

thanked him for his presentation of the violations of the Consumer Protection Act.

Further, the plaintiff/appellant asks for CR 11 sanctions against Michael T. Callan of Peterson Russell Kelly PLLC for misleading the court with false declarations and innuendos without answer to the claim.

Thank you for your attention to this matter. It concerns many people associated with Greentree Apartments and the present landlord; many have health problems but do not have the ability or funds to move to another facility. This is not a class action law suit. That is left to the Attorney General. Nevertheless, this practice should not be allowed to continue without the inspections required by the King County Code concerning issues brought forth by the Legislature in 2005 and made a part of the permanent record of the Landlord Tenet Act under chapter 59.18 RCW.