£

## No. 72397-9-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

## WAYNE R. RICHARDSON,

Appellant,

v.

# COAST REAL ESTATE SERVICES FOR GREENTREE APARTMENTS IN KING COUNTY, JEANETTA WALSTON (manager),

Respondents.

## **BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

Michael T. Callan, WSBA #16237

Peterson Russell Kelly PLLC Attorneys for Respondents Coast Real Estate Services and Jeanetta Walston

10900 NE Fourth Street, Suite 1850 Bellevue, WA 98004-8341 425-462-4700

#

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. The Court's Granting of Summary Judgment was Proper.

Summary judgment rulings are reviewed de novo. Seybold v. Neu, 105 Wash.App. 666, 675, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001). When reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court, considering all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Kahn v. Salerno, 90 Wash.App. 110, 117, 951 P.2d 321 (1998). Summary judgment is appropriate if the record before the court shows that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); Ruff v. County of King, 125 Wash.2d 697, 703, 887 P.2d 886 (1995). An appellate court may affirm a trial courts

disposition of a summary judgment motion on any basis supported by the record. *Redding v. Virginia Mason Med. Ctr.*, 75 Wash.App. 424, 426, 878 P.2d 483 (1994).

 Richardson Failed to Respond after being Properly Served with Notice Provided to the Address Provided To Coast's Counsel.

Richardson claims error by the Court in denying the Motion to Vacate the Order on Summary Judgment. Richardson claims Coast's Motion for Summary Judgment was not served on his correct address. However the Motion was properly granted. Based upon the undisputed facts, Mr. Richardson was timely served with Coast's summary judgment motion and related pleadings at the addresses that Mr. Richardson designated for service in the pleadings he served on Coast. Coast's summary judgment motion was timely filed and served by mail with 31 days' notice. CP 188-191, CP 192-193, CP 194-195.

Coast served its motion at the addresses that Mr. Richardson provided in the pleadings he provided to Coast. CP 178, CP 207. On March 24, 2014, Counsel for Coast received via mail from Mr. Richardson his Note for Motion and Motion/Discovery Under CR 26. CP 203-207, CP 167-179 (with addresses on CP 207 and CP 178). On Richardson's Motion he lists his address as follows:

New mailing address P.O. Box 98618 Seattle, WA 98178 (206) 772-6181 landline with ans.

New address for personal service to June 1, 2014 KOA campground space 18 5801 So. 212 St, Kent WA 98032

CP 178.

On Richardson's Note for Motion he provided the same address:

New mailing address P.O. Box 98618 Seattle, WA 98178 (206) 772-6181 landline/answer (206) 551-8064 cell

Special Notice: Plaintiff purchased a used class "A" Motor Home that was finalized on March 18, 2014. It was moved to 5801 S. 212th St., Space 18 KOA campground in Kent, WA 98032 on Tuesday March 18, 2014. This space will be valid to June 1, 2014. Plaintiff has to quiet title on house at 7201 So 126th St. before the Sheriff will extricate an unknown third interloper still squatting on the premises.

CP 207.

The address in the Note for Motion was typewritten but Richardson hand wrote the first number in the P.O. Box as number "9" consistent with the address in the Motion. CP 207. Richardson filed the Note for Motion with the King County Superior Court but apparently changed the first number in the P.O. Box from "9" to "7". Compare CP 207 with CP 47, line 10. Richardson did not change the address in the

Motion. Richardson admits that he mistyped his address on the pleadings served on Coast. CP 75, Lines 13-24. Richardson provided no notice to Coast of his apparent mistake. Coast was not aware of any discrepancy until obtaining copies of the clerk's papers in this appeal. CP 203-207.

Regardless, Coast also served Richardson by mail at the campground address he provided to both Coast and the court. CP 194-195. Consequently, any issue associated with the one address Richardson apparently mistyped was alleviated by the second campground address he provided. There is no allegation that the campground address was incorrect.

Consequently Coast properly served Richardson by mail on Tuesday, May 20, 2014. CP 194-195. CR 5 (2)(A) states:

- 2) Service by Mail.
- (A) How made. If service is made by mail, the papers shall be deposited in the post office addressed to the person on whom they are being served, with the postage prepaid. The service shall be deemed complete upon the third day following the day upon which they are placed in the mail, unless the third day falls on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, in which event service shall be deemed complete on the first day other than a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, following the third day.

#### CR 56(c) states:

(c) Motion and Proceedings. The motion and any supporting affidavits, memoranda of law, or other documentation shall be filed and served not later than 28 calendar days before the hearing.

Emphasis added.

Service on Mr. Richardson was deemed complete on Friday, May 23, 2014, the third day following the date the pleadings were placed in the mail to him, and accordingly, Mr. Richardson received 28 calendar days' notice **before** the Friday, June 20, 2014 hearing date.

A trial court must hold pro se parties to the same standards to which it holds attorneys. 6 Westberg v. All-Purpose Structures, Inc., 86 Wash.App. 405, 411, 936 P.2d 1175 (1997); Edwards v. Le Duc, 157 Wash. App. 455, 460, 238 P.3d 1187, 1190 (2010). Mr. Richardson admits in his Motion to Amend Default that he mistyped his address on the pleadings. CP 75. It is Richardson's duty to keep the court and counsel informed as to his correct address. See CR 13(e). Richardson cannot claim error by the Court and Coast when notice was provided to him at the last addresses he provided. Richardson failed to timely respond to the motion and the motion was consequently granted.

The Court should affirm the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment as Mr. Richardson was timely served with Coast's summary judgment motion and related pleadings at the addresses that Mr.

Richardson designated for service in the pleadings he served on Coast. As the Court stated in its July 31, 2014 Order:

The [Summary Judgment pleadings] were served by mail to Plaintiff's last known P.O. Box and to an address at KOA Campground in the city of Kent that Plaintiff specifically designated as the address to be used for personal services upon him (see ECR docket sub #27)

CP 200

Both CR 56(c) and King County Local Rule 56(c)(2), require the adverse (nonmoving) party to file any responding documents at least eleven calendar days prior to the hearing on the motion for summary judgment. Richardson failed to respond to the motion. Consequently, entry of summary judgment was appropriate. See *Davies v. Holy Family Hosp.*, 144 Wash. App. 483, 499-500, 183 P.3d 283, 291 (2008) (the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying pro se defendant's motion to submit an untimely response.)

 Richardson Failed to Submit any Admissible Evidence in His Motion to Vacate.

CR 56(e) governs the form of affidavits for purposes of summary judgment. The rule states that an affidavit in support of summary judgment shall (1) be made on personal knowledge, (2) set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and (3) show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify. CR 56(e); *Hill v. Sacred Heart Med. Ctr.*, 143 Wn.App. 438, 449, 177 P.3d 1152 (2008). Richardson's Motion to Vacate was treated as a motion for reconsideration by the court. Therefore

Richardson was required to provide admissible evidence to refute Coast's claims. Richardson's motion contained no affidavits or declarations and therefore no admissible evidence upon which the Court could reconsider its order on summary judgment. Richardson failed to set forth any admissible facts to defeat summary judgment or any basis for the court to reconsider the order granting summary judgment. Consequently, the court properly denied the motion for reconsideration.

Similarly, if construed as a motion to vacate under CR 60, the court properly denied the motion. CR 60(e) provides the procedure for vacation of a judgment:

# (e) Procedure on Vacation of Judgment.

(1) Motion. Application shall be made by motion filed in the cause stating the grounds upon which relief is asked, and supported by the affidavit of the applicant or his attorney setting forth a concise statement of the facts or errors upon which the motion is based ...

CR 60(e) (Emphasis Added); See also *Grossman v. Will*, 10 Wash. App. 141, 147, 516 P.2d 1063, 1067 (1973).

Here, Richardson filed a document entitled Motion to Vacate but failed to submit any admissible evidence in the form of affidavits or declarations to support the motion. Richardson merely provided a motion with unsupported factual allegations and argument. Under these circumstances the motion was properly denied. There was no admissible

evidence supplied by Richardson on which the Court could vacate the summary judgment.

#### 3. Richardson has Never Properly Noted a Motion for Default.

Richardson's claim that the Court erred by failing to grant his motion for default is also misplaced. Richardson has never properly served defendant Coast and therefore Richardson lacked jurisdiction over Coast. However, following the appearance by Coast, Richardson's initial motion for default was stricken for failure to properly note and serve the motion in accordance with King County Local Rule 7. CP 125.

Richardson has never properly or timely served Coast with a motion for default. Consequently any claim of error by the trial court for failure to grant default is without merit.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Richardson filed this action claiming unsubstantiated defects in his apartment unit managed by Coast and its employee, on site manager

Jeanetta Walston. Following inspection by Coast the unit was confirmed to be in accordance with all standards under RCW 59.18. Richardson's failure to properly identify parties, failure to properly serve parties, failure to produce evidence and unending failure to comply with the court rules resulted in substantial wasted time, finances and judicial resources. When served with defendants' motion for summary judgment at the addresses

provided by Richardson, he failed to respond resulting in the entry of an order on summary judgment. Any error in the address was admittedly an error by Richardson. When he filed a motion to vacate the judgment, Richardson failed to submit any admissible evidence to support reconsideration or vacation of the order granting summary judgment. Under these circumstances, the Court's order granting summary judgment was appropriate and should be affirmed.